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ARLINGTON COUNTY, VIRGINIA 
OFFICE OF THE PURCHASING AGENT 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS NO. 22-CPHD-RFP-500 

 
ADDENDUM NO. 1 

 
Arlington County Request for Proposals No. 22-CPHD-RFP-500 for Broadband Study is amended as 
follows: 
 
The following is clarification to questions received from vendors.  
 

1. Question: Can Arlington County confirm that non-US resources can support this project with 
appropriate data protections in place?  
Answer: Yes, as long as the firm is registered with the Virginia State Corporation Commission 
before award.  

 
2. Question: Will Arlington County be providing data regarding landlords who have exclusive 

contracts with internet service providers?  
Answer: Arlington County does not have large-scale datasets related to landlords who have 
exclusive contracts with internet service providers. Based upon conversations with our nonprofit 
housing providers, the use of exclusive contracts to offset infrastructure development is 
common practice among affordable housing providers. Staff will facilitate connection between 
the selected consultant and nonprofit housing developers and other stakeholders, including the 
Northern Virginia Chapter of Commercial Real Estate Development, Northern Virginia 
Apartment Association, Apartment and Office Building Association of Metropolitan Washington, 
and the Condo Owners and Renters Coalition, among others.  
 

3. Question: Can Arlington County confirm that the cover letter, project approach, project 
schedule, project cost, and organizational experience & capacity can all be submitted within 
the same document?   
Answer: All proposal components may be submitted within the same document.  
 

4. Question: Can Arlington County describe data it anticipates sharing regarding 
unserved/underserved populations? (E.g., are there data layers the County will share for 
vendor analysis?)  
Answer: Arlington County anticipates that the selected consultant would draw from secondary 
sources (e.g., U.S. Census Bureau, Federal Communications Commission) and local sources 
collected through the study process and provided by Arlington County. In addition to data 
currently available on the County’s Open Portal, staff anticipates immediately sharing the 
following datasets: 

• ConnectArlington network GIS layer, including fiber strand locations and Department of 
Technology Services hand holes 
• Community facility locations and available County digital resources 
• Committed Affordable Housing Properties GIS layer, including property address and 
number of units. The file may also be joined to another more comprehensive housing file 
that documents all properties, including building typology (i.e., Garden, Mid-Rise, High-Rise) 
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• Summarized responses in Word and Excel from the Digital Equity Access Project 
completed by Reingold  
• GIS layers from the University of Virginia’s Data Commons Project – a shared, open data 
repository for the Washington, D.C., region. For the digital equity topic, UVA is pulling 
publicly available data from the U.S. Census, Federal Communications Commission, and 
Ookla, among others. Research questions were focused around access (Census data), quality 
(with Ookla speed data as a proxy), and affordability (Digital Equity Access Project data). In 
addition, UVA researchers are applying additional analysis to the data. Research is still in 
progress, but may be available prior to the consultant commencing work (or shortly 
thereafter). The selected consultant will be connected to the research team focused on 
digital equity and staff will request that the consultant receives GIS layers that are beneficial 
to this broadband study.  

County staff has had several interdepartmental conversations about digital access and the 
underserved population. During the beginning of the study period, the core team will brief the 
selected consultant on information gleaned and will facilitate interdepartmental connections 
that may offer additional data related to programming and services that may inform the needs 
assessment. These departments include the Department of Human Services, Arlington Economic 
Development, Department of Parks and Recreation, Public Safety, Housing and Neighborhood 
Services in CPHD, Arlington Public Schools, Libraries, Arlington Employment Center, and 
Department of Technology Services.  
 

5. Question: Can Arlington County share its GIS shapefiles with participating firms so we may 
begin some preliminary analysis and include in our approach and response?  
Answer: Arlington’s publicly available data is located on the County’s Open Portal. All other files 
are internal and will be shared after the selection process. Specifically, the GIS shapefile 
associated with the County’s municipal fiber network, ConnectArlington, must include a Non-
Disclosure Agreement with the recipient. We will not execute multiple agreements with 
prospective consultants for this shapefile and will wait until a consultant has been selected. 
While this does not provide the same level of detail, this high level map (included in the RFP) 
shows the general footprint of the existing County-owned and managed network, spanning the 
main commercial corridors of Arlington County with links to County and school facilities.  
 

6. Question: Who is a part of the designated project team from Arlington County? How much 
time will they allocate to this project?   
Answer: The project will be led by the Department of Community Planning, Housing, and 
Development (CPHD). The study team will include a project lead (~50% of time) and three 
additional interdepartmental staff members (~5-15% of time). Other staff may be used as 
needed to provide information, data, and review deliverables over the course of the project. In 
addition, three department directors from Department of Technology, CPHD, and Libraries will 
serve as advisors to the project.  
 

7. Question: Our understanding is this contract will be fixed-price, however the RFP refers to a 
not-to-exceed cost and asks for hourly rates for proposed team members. Can Arlington 
County clarify how the detailed hours estimates and individual rates will be used to evaluate 
proposals and manage project delivery?  
Answer: The contract cost may be negotiated and will be executed on a fixed price. Offerors are 
asked to provide rates and individual hours to justify their project cost proposal. Scoring for the 
“Project Cost” category will be based on the presence of a fixed price cost for the total project, 

https://data.arlingtonva.us/
https://www.arlingtonva.us/files/sharedassets/public/departments/images/arlington-fiber-asset.jpg
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itemized costs by project task or element (identified in the scope or other proposed tasks by the 
offeror), and whether the cost is justified by staff costs and other associated costs.   

 
8. Question: Has the County determined a budget to support the Broadband Study that can be 

shared with perspective bidders? 
Answer: The County has established a budget for this project, but it will not be made available.  
 

9. Question: Regarding the Section IV. Scope of Work in Element 1, at “1.8 Assess the scale and 
nature of landlords who have exclusive contracts with internet service providers”, can the 
County share additional insight into this particular task? Is the intention to survey and 
determine perspective landlords that have entered into exclusive contracts with internet 
service providers and that this broadband service provider is the only vendor contractual 
eligible to offer broadband services to the landlord’s tenants? Is this task directed at 
residential or business landlords, or both? Does the County know of any landlords that have 
these exclusive arrangements?  
Answer: Based upon conversations with our nonprofit housing providers, the use of exclusive 
contracts to offset infrastructure development is common practice among affordable housing 
properties. Exclusive contracts/lack of competition also surfaced during the Digital Equity Access 
Project’s survey/focus group work with low-income residents.  
 
The intention of the task is to determine how many landlords/properties have entered into 
exclusive contracts with a single internet service provider. From our preliminary understanding, 
this may take the form of marketing of the service or limiting the available service to tenants to 
a single provider. If possible, we would like to uncover the nature of the contract as well since 
the information may impact the internet service delivery model.  
 
Staff believes we could assess this topic across Arlington’s affordable housing portfolio at a 
minimum. However, we are also interested to know whether this is an issue more broadly 
experienced in Arlington among market-rate multifamily and commercial tenants. Staff 
understands that this task is challenging as it relies on private landlords to supply information. 
As such, we recognize that the selected consultant may not be able to offer a complete 
assessment of this topic, though we hope to better understand this issue through data. 
 
Staff will facilitate connection between the selected consultant and nonprofit housing 
developers and other stakeholders, including the Northern Virginia Chapter of Commercial Real 
Estate Development, Northern Virginia Apartment Association, Apartment and Office Building 
Association of Metropolitan Washington, and the Condo Owners and Renters Coalition, among 
others. 
 
For this task (and others), the County welcomes consultant suggestions and creativity. If one or 
more components of a task are infeasible, staff asks that offerors state so and why when 
preparing their project approach.  
 

10. Question: For item 12.4, the County requests a hyperlink to a final report for an example 
project. Is it a mandatory requirement for all example projects to have a publicly available 
report? 
Answer: Providing publicly available documentation is ideal, though not mandatory. Providing 
documentation of the work product enables the Selection Advisory Committee to appropriately 
assess the quality of firm’s past experience and applicability to Arlington. Thus, it is in the 
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offeror’s best interest to provide documentation (either publicly available or not) in addition to 
the narrative response.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The balance of the solicitation remains unchanged. 
 
 
      Arlington County, Virginia 
 
 
    
 
  
      Sy Gezachew 

Procurement Officer 
sgezachew@arlingtonva.us  
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